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The Monitor and the Merrimack. The ironclads are not drawn to relative scale: the Union ship was 179 feet long with a 41 1/2-foot beam; the Confederate, 275 feet by 51 feet.
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To the memory of my father and mother: Richard B. Snow, who served in the Atlantic aboard a latter-day ironclad during another war; and Emma Folger Snow, who endured those years of separation with the same lonely tenacity that he did


The sinking of all the world’s old sea-bitten names,

Temeraire, Victory, and Constellation,

Serapis, Bon Homme Richard, Golden Hind,

Galleys of Antony, galleys of Carthage,

Galleons with gilded Virgins, galleasses,

Viking long-serpents, siren-haunted galliots,

Argos and argosies and the Achaean pride,

Moving to sea in one long wooden wall

Behind the huge ghost-flagship of the Ark

In such a swelling cloud of phantom sail

They whitened Ocean—going down by the head,

Green water seeping through the battened ports,

Spreading along the scrubbed and famous decks,

Going down—going down—going down—to mermaid-pools,

To Fiddler’s Green—to the dim barnacle-thrones,

Where Davy Jones drinks everlasting rum

With the sea-horses of his sunken dreams.

—Stephen Vincent Benét John Brown’s Body



CHAPTER 1

Terrible Havoc: March 1862
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One of a galaxy of patriotic tokens and medals struck in honor of the Union ironclad.



Her creator had come up with the name—Monitor—and he meant it to have the broadest implications. Not only was his ship to cast her stern gaze on all Southern deviltry, but “there are other leaders who will also be startled and admonished by the booming of the guns from the impregnable iron turret.” These leaders, he said, dwelt in Downing Street, London.

But neither the rebellious South nor the Lords of the Admiralty would have felt much admonished had they seen the USS Monitor on her maiden voyage.

It wasn’t a long trip, just from Brooklyn down to the Chesapeake Bay, but during the journey she had nearly sunk twice in twenty-four hours. She had no business being out on the open sea in early March when the Atlantic is full of brutal caprice; she should still have been making cautious trial river voyages near the yard in Greenpoint where she’d been built. Workmen had been hammering away at her iron skin right up to the time she raised anchor and steamed down through the Narrows of New York Harbor and out into the ocean.

The first few days of her life were encouraging. She hadn’t sunk like an anvil, as many had predicted, and after some adjustments she went in the direction the helmsman wanted. The few inches of freeboard stayed above water, and the deck remained dry once she got to sea. Soon enough, though, a gale was kicking her around, and nothing about her was dry, inside or out, and most of her crew, with no sails to set or ropes to haul, could only brace themselves against sweating metal bulkheads in a drizzling darkness falteringly lit by oil lamps and engine fires. They could all feel the sea, but none of them could see it because they were sealed in below the waterline—in a submarine, really, although the word did not yet exist to describe a kind of boat. They were sailors, they knew the ocean and its ways, but this duty was new to them. They’d never sailed in a ship like this one. Nobody had.

The captain got seasick—no shame in that; Lord Nelson always had at the start of his voyages—and then many of the men did too. They were helped topside to lie, sketchily shielded from the spray by canvas sheets, on the only part of their ship that was above water now: the turret (although this was so new a development that many of them called it the “tower”). Below inside it were the guns—only two of them, and all but untried. They were good cannon, big seven-ton Dahlgrens, but their inventor, Major John Dahlgren, wished they’d never left port. There hadn’t been time to test them properly, and it seemed likely there wouldn’t be until they were fired in battle.

The prospect of that battle was what had brought the Monitor and its men, half-trained and ill prepared, out into the March Atlantic. Some four hundred miles to the south, in Norfolk, Virginia, the Rebels were building—had built—a vessel sheathed in iron. Unlike the Monitor, its upperworks rested on a wooden hull; it wasn’t all iron. But what showed above the waterline was, and the vessels guarding the immense natural harbor of Hampton Roads, and thus Chesapeake Bay, the finest ships in the Union fleet, were all made of wood.

If the Rebel ship could blast its way past them, she might very well steam up the Potomac and bombard Washington, or into New York Harbor and knock apart the financial resources of the Union. This was a machine that could end the war. Or so they thought in Washington and New York, and who was to say they were wrong?

So the Monitor, hurried from the laying of her keel to her launching, hurried now, while the seas grew taller and the wretched men shivering on the top of the turret watched the frill of sparks on her stacks and prayed nothing would douse the fires that kept sending them up into the Atlantic night.

The fires stayed lit, barely, but at one point the ventilators failed and the ship filled with poisonous gases, and the insensible men pulled from the fumes out onto the turret were at first thought to have died.

But by luck and improvisation and feats of considerable bravery, they made it at last to better weather and the sight of Capes Henry and Charles, the doorposts of Chesapeake Bay. Late on the afternoon of March 8 the sailors began to hear gunfire, distant and steady, and William Keeler, the Monitor’s paymaster, saw “little black spots . . . suddenly springing into the air, remaining stationary for a moment or two & then gradually expanding into a large white cloud—these were shells & tended to increase the excitement.”

When the Monitor was close enough to take a pilot aboard, he said the Southern ironclad had come out that very morning and made “terrible havock among the shipping.” It most certainly had. As darkness settled, the sky to the west remained bright with the burning wrecks of Northern warships. The Monitor was steaming toward the worst disaster the US Navy had ever suffered, one that would not be surpassed until a December Sunday eighty years in the future. “Oh, how we longed to be there,” wrote Keeler, “but our iron hull crept slowly on & the monotonous clank, clank of the engine betokened no increase of its speed.” Everyone above decks stared at the distant fire playing on the undersides of smoke clouds and wondered if, after the months of frantic work on their ship, and the nightmare little voyage they’d just taken aboard her, they had arrived a few hours too late.

WE TEND TO SEE THE Civil War largely as a contest waged on land. Say “Civil War” and your listeners may think of Pickett’s Charge on the third day of Gettysburg, or the shredded cornfields at Antietam, or the mortal roads that led to Appomattox. It is unlikely they will envision the agglomeration of extemporized hardware that Lincoln called “Uncle Sam’s web-feet” even though, as the President said, “at all the watery margins they have been present. Not only on the deep sea, the broad bay, the rapid river, but also up the muddy bayou, and wherever the ground was a little damp, they have been, and made their tracks.”

In the war’s last year, a Union captain named Charles Steedman said of Rear Admiral David Glasgow Farragut, “That little man”—Farragut was just under middle height—“has done more to put down the rebellion than any general except Grant and Sherman.” Steedman’s thinking he had to make the remark suggests that even then people needed reminding that the naval war was as crucial to Union victory as the land operations. Yet the Civil War navies have always been in relative eclipse.

The reason is clear: the numbers of those who served on land and on sea are violently disproportionate. The Navy absorbed only 5 percent of the Union’s manpower. It was a fighting outfit, but its losses for the entire war were outstripped by any number of single days of combat ashore.

Stonewall Jackson, William Tecumseh Sherman, Grant, Lee, we all know, and, yes, probably Farragut (yet who can name his flagship?); and on the Confederate side, what naval figure comes to mind?

One place where the Civil War Navy does get equal billing with the Army is on the south side of the triumphal arch in Grand Army Plaza in Brooklyn. There, two bronze groups from the turn of the last century by the sculptor Frederick MacMonnies are named in honor of The Spirit of the Army and The Spirit of the Navy. They’re pretty terrific, and well worth a visit (Manhattan itself is oddly stingy with Civil War monuments). On the left as you face the monument is the Army, officers and men forever charging up Flatbush Avenue beneath the frozen tumult of a winged horse; on the right, the Navy. These sailors seem closer to our time, perhaps because they are less formally uniformed, and perhaps because at the front of the plinth is a black man. He’s kneeling, but not, as in so many allegorical statements of the era, in gratitude for having had the shackles knocked from his wrists. Instead he’s holding a big Navy Colt revolver, clearly ready, even eager, to use it. He looks tough as hell.

The naval group seems the more interesting, the more modern, of the two.

And if a sense of modernity is there, it is absolutely fitting. The Civil War was full of grim modernity, from twentieth-century firepower to an industrial state supporting a vast citizen army. But nowhere is that modernity more striking than in what is often considered the most traditional and hidebound of services.

If it is difficult to summon from memory the conflict’s naval leaders, almost everyone can name its two most significant warships. Of course the alliteration helps, but there’s more to it than that. Many naval battles—Trafalgar, Midway—have bent the course of history in hours or even minutes. But none has fomented in a short day’s work a whole new kind of warfare, has in one noisy morning made an ancient tradition obsolete.

Although some aspects of the meeting of these two ships carry a tang of the miraculous, their battle wasn’t in itself a miracle. The fight, or something like it, had been bound to happen, given the trajectory that military technology was taking when it occurred. Still, how likely is it that this first encounter of a brand-new kind of machinery, and an equally new idea, would also have immediate results? It is a little as if a week after the Wright brothers first flew at Kitty Hawk, they had taken their airplane out to sea and won a signal victory for their nation.

Whose victory it truly was is still argued today. What has long been beyond dispute is the courage of the two crews—one six times the size of the other—who took to sea to fight in untried vessels that were at least as dangerous to themselves as to their enemies. Their foray into the unknown has left us with the only two Civil War vessels we can automatically name: the Monitor and the Merrimack.



CHAPTER 2

Augury
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The Charleston floating battery seen from the side, with its hospital behind.



With the possible exception of President James Buchanan in the waning days of his administration, Major Robert Anderson held, in the early spring of 1861, the least enviable job in the newly disunited states.

Anderson, who had a distinguished record of service against Chief Black Hawk and in the Mexican War, was in charge of the US garrison in Charleston, South Carolina, and thus responsible for the military installations that guarded the harbor there. Under normal circumstances he would have been perfectly comfortable in this post: born in Kentucky in 1805, he saw himself as a Southerner, had owned slaves, and felt at home in the prosperous world their labor made possible.

The circumstances, however, were far from normal. Abraham Lincoln had been elected president half a year earlier, and six weeks later South Carolina had seceded from the Union, viewing itself, before other states joined it, as an independent nation.

Anderson and his command became the object of increasing suspicion and hostility. The major found little guidance in the paltering semi-orders that sporadically came in from Washington: Give up Nothing! and at the same time Do Nothing to annoy the South Carolinians! As a martial mood settled on the tiny new republic, he realized that this growing social isolation could easily become an honest-to-God siege.

If that happened, it would be over quickly. Among the works Anderson was responsible for was Fort Moultrie on Sullivan’s Island, a finger of land that hooks out into Charleston Harbor. He had his men busy strengthening it, but if the danger came from the quarter he now expected, his defenses would be worthless. The fort had been designed to withstand an attack from the sea by some foreign power, not from behind by its owners.

The question of ownership was urgent. Representatives of the infant government were up in Washington punctiliously offering to buy South Carolina’s defenses, saying they hoped this real estate transfer would ensure them a peaceful departure from the Union.

Anderson wanted peace with all his heart; and if there was to be a war, he most keenly wished not to start it. A devout man, he prayed daily that the crisis could be resolved without bloodshed. But he knew Charleston’s military properties were not for sale. He couldn’t defend Fort Moultrie, or any of the shore batteries. Out in the middle of the harbor, though, stood Fort Sumter on its man-made island. Under construction for thirty years, it still wasn’t finished. Nevertheless, the fort was formidable, with brick walls forty feet high and up to twelve feet thick. Once there, Anderson could make a stand if he had to.

Such was the atmosphere in the city that the major made his move as if under enemy guns: by stealth and at night, on December 26. That he was wise to do so is confirmed by the rage that greeted his occupation of Sumter, encapsulated in the Charleston Courier’s account of the maneuver, which began, “Maj. Robert Anderson, U.S.A., has achieved the unenviable distinction of opening civil war between American citizens by an act of gross breach of faith.”

If not quite war yet, it felt enough like one to the garrison in Fort Sumter: monotonous days, drab rations—little was coming over from the shore—and a constant mutter of speculation about whether supplies and reinforcements were on the way.

In the meantime, South Carolinians had occupied all the vacated federal positions and were surrounding Sumter with a necklace of batteries on the harbor islands.

Early in the charged New Year of 1861, they began a project that greatly interested Anderson. In Marsh’s Shipyard on the Charleston waterfront, well in view of the fort, carpenters were hammering together a peculiar structure. They worked under the direction of Lieutenant James Randolph Hamilton—the descendant of a South Carolina governor—who had resigned his commission in the US Navy to take command of the ambitiously named Navy of South Carolina. With no fleet at his disposal, Hamilton set about building a movable waterborne gun platform. Looking something like a cross between a barn and a covered bridge, the floating battery was a hundred feet long by about twenty-five feet wide, built of heavy pinewood logs hewn a foot square. Its broad face was pierced by four openings easily recognizable as gunports. Around them grew a shell of boiler plating that, once laid down, got crosshatched with vertical strips of railroad iron. Eventually a pair of 32-pounders and two 42-pounders—cannon that threw balls of those weights—would be trundled aboard. These were big guns, and Hamilton counterbalanced their weight with a six-foot-deep wall of sandbags along the back of his battery. Beneath the sandbags lay the magazines that held the vessel’s gunpowder; the shot it would propel was under the deck just behind the cannon. If this maritime creature were not odd enough, it was joined by a floating hospital containing several beds and two operating tables, riding on a separate raft that would tag along behind the battery sheltered by its iron façade.

Some members of Company D of the South Carolina Artillery Battalion, who would be working the battery’s guns, were sufficiently skeptical about its armor to name it “the slaughter pen.” Others thought it would capsize before the iron sheathing could be tested.

Their doubts were echoed happily by one of Anderson’s engineering officers. Captain John G. Foster wrote a report saying, “I do not think this floating battery will prove very formidable” as “it can be destroyed by our fire before it has time to do much damage.”

His commander wasn’t so sure. Major Anderson had been an artillery instructor at West Point, and his gunner’s eye didn’t like what it saw taking shape on the Charleston shore. He was worried enough to write Washington: “I should like to be instructed on a question which may present itself in reference to the floating battery, viz: What course would it be proper to take if, without a declaration of war . . . I should see them approaching my fort with that battery? They may attempt placing it within good distance before a declaration of hostile intentions.”

The question evidently demanded a cabinet meeting, at which, in a flash of spirit, Buchanan said that Anderson should “crack away at them.” But that boldness quickly evaporated. The President wanted to slow the momentum of the gathering conflict until he could hand off this colossal can of sharp-fanged worms to his successor.

So what Anderson got in response was a spate of nothing disguising itself as a directive:

“If . . . you are convinced by sufficient evidence that the raft of which you speak is advancing for the purpose of making an assault upon the fort, then you would be justified on the principle of self-defense in not awaiting its actual arrival there, but in repelling force by force on its approach. If, on the other hand, you have reason to believe that it is approaching merely to take up a position at a good distance should the pending question not be amicably settled, then, unless your safety is so clearly endangered as to render resistance an act of necessary self-defense and protection, you will act with that forbearance that has distinguished you heretofore.”

In late February a Charleston-based New York Times reporter, clearly of strong Union leanings and generations away from any pretense of journalistic objectivity, watched the battery being launched. “Arrived at the Palmetto Wharf, I saw a small crowd gathering, which each moment increased, as the news spread through the town. By 8 1/4 o’clock at least 5,000 people were present, and the unknown quantity, called by many the ‘slaughter pen,’ rolled heavily and clumsily into her new element. They haven’t christened her, and when they do, it is my private opinion that it will be done in the blood of all who embark in her. I hope the Richardson Guards [a recently formed South Carolina volunteer regiment] will say their prayers, even if they never did it before, and make their wills in some sort of earnestness, for they never will see Charleston again. . . . God help those who do go, if the tide should turn her round and present her unprotected side to Major ANDERSON’S death-dealers, at only six hundred yards. Only the gun-side is plated, and the roof of that part looks very like an old-fashioned rope-walk. . . . Lieutenant HAMILTON . . . is a brave man, even unto rashness; he can give no better proof of it than his intention to herd the boys who are ambitious of seeking a bloody grave.”

The battery stayed put for a while, an object of fascination not only to Charleston citizens, who visited it daily, but up North as well. The New York Herald put on display for its readers a log identical (said the Herald) to those used in the battery. Another log was offered to P. T. Barnum for display in his Broadway “museum.” Barnum was interested until he heard the price: his unsurpassed entrepreneurial instinct told him that $150 was too steep.

ABRAHAM LINCOLN WAS INAUGURATED ON March 4. In his address that day he made clear that Fort Sumter would remain a federal possession: “The power confided to me will be used to hold, occupy, and possess the property and places belonging to the Government.” In closing, he spoke directly to the citizens of South Carolina and of the six other states that had joined her in secession: “In your hands, my dissatisfied fellow-countrymen, and not in mine, is the momentous issue of Civil War.”

In early April the momentous issue was most immediately in the hands of Brigadier General Pierre Gustave Toutant-Beauregard, who had studied artillery tactics under Anderson at West Point. He had left the US Army to take command of the ten thousand Rebel troops now gathered in Charleston.

On the first day of April Beauregard telegraphed the Confederate capital in Montgomery, Alabama, “Batteries ready to open Wednesday or Thursday. What instructions?” There was no waffling from this government. The word came back: issue an ultimatum. Evacuate the fort, Beauregard ordered, or he would, in the military euphemism of the day, “reduce” it. Anderson determined to hold on as long as he could with his command of 127 men, which included 8 musicians and 43 noncombatant workers who were willing to stick it out with him.

On the night of the eleventh, steam tugs towed the floating battery across the harbor to the tip of Sullivan’s Island, and it anchored there a mile from the fort. The balky, inconvenient vessel was at least capable of staying on top of the water. Nor did what the Times reporter called “the novel coercive weapon” gratify him by pivoting its naked backside to face Anderson’s guns.

At four thirty in the morning of the twelfth, Beauregard gave the order, and a mortar crew on James Island sent a shell arcing upward. The dawn was still distant enough for the gunners to follow the sparking trail of the fuse through its reflection in the harbor waters. It exploded directly above Sumter’s parade ground.

Forty-six other guns immediately joined in. The Charleston Mercury exuberantly reported, “Upon that signal, the circle of batteries with which the grim fortress of Fort Sumter is beleaguered opened fire. The outline of this great volcanic crater was illuminated with a line of twinkling lights; the clustering shells illuminated the sky above it; the balls clattered thick as hail upon its sides.”

Anderson waited until full daylight before ordering Captain Abner Doubleday, his second-in-command, to open fire. Sumter fought throughout that day. With all he had to occupy him, Anderson took time to note that the floating battery had justified his apprehensions about it. The hospital protected in its lee got one client, when a cannonball punched against the plating to wound a soldier. But that was all: as the clanging hours passed, shot after shot struck Lieutenant Hamilton’s battery; some caromed upward off the pitch of its roof; some knocked themselves into the water against the inward-sloping lower face; none pierced it.

A Union artillery captain in the fort wrote that the guns playing on the craft “were 32 and 42-pounders, and some curiosity was felt as to the effect of such shot on the iron-clad battery. The gunners made excellent practice, but the shot were seen to bounce off its side like peas.”

Meanwhile Hamilton’s guns kept up a steady fire, shattering masonry and raising clouds of brick dust. The Mercury said, “The celebrated Floating Battery” has “fully vindicated the correctness of [its] conception.” It was “quite hidden from our view by the smoke from its own guns, but it was not difficult to see the effective execution of its 42 pounders upon the north parapet of Fort Sumter.”

By the next day most of the wooden buildings inside Sumter’s walls were burning, and Anderson’s ammunition was all but gone. On the afternoon of the thirteenth, he surrendered.

The thirty-four-hour bombardment had sent some 4,000 shells into the fort, 490 of them from the floating battery. By a miracle (one all too rarely repeated in the red years to follow), none of the defenders had been killed, nor had any of their adversaries.

In the aftermath, Anderson was able to surrender with full military honors: the war was a jolly new adventure to the victors (the Mercury’s headline called the bombardment a “Splendid Pyrotechnic Exhibition”), and their success had left them magnanimous. Anderson’s men were allowed to keep their arms, and he the flag. Waiting steamers carried them to New York City, where good food and drink and general adulation did much to blunt the memory of the hard months of isolation in Charleston Harbor.

Anderson went on to Washington, where in his reports he stressed the floating battery. He had seen its iron carapace shed the best he could fire at it. If someone conceived the idea—and it wouldn’t require much imagination on the part of these new enemies—of mounting a steam engine inside the battery, the result could be dire for the wooden warships that made up the entirety of the US Navy.

Captain Doubleday said he too came back North believing “that South Carolina not only intended to build iron-clad batteries, but was thinking of iron-clad ships, to sink our wooden navy, and at some future time capture our Northern harbors.” He wrote of the threat to “members of Congress; but no one at the North seemed to give the matter a second thought, or imagine there was any danger to be apprehended in the future.”



CHAPTER 3

Disgrace
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The Merrimack when she was still the pride of the United States Navy, but soon to become its most fearsome opponent.



If Fort Sumter’s spirited defense at the eleventh—the twelfth—hour helped salve the Union’s bruised martial amour propre, what went on four hundred miles to the north at the Gosport Navy Yard was an unmitigated, all-but-inexplicable disaster.

Gosport was a year away from being rechristened with its current name, the Norfolk Naval Shipyard, although it is actually in Portsmouth, Virginia, across from Norfolk on the west bank of the Elizabeth River. Ten miles downstream the Elizabeth joins the Nansemond and James Rivers to form Hampton Roads, the vast natural harbor—one of the largest in the world—that opens onto Chesapeake Bay.

Gosport was the best-equipped Navy yard in America. Only Boston came close. Both had granite dry docks, but such was the scale of Gosport’s that, more than 180 years after taking in its first ship for repair, the dock is still in daily service. Around this prodigy spread a smoky industrial metropolis of foundries and machine shops, ship houses capable of building the most advanced war vessels, smithies, gunners’ lofts, rigging lofts, forges, sawmills, timber sheds—all the fixtures necessary to run a complex naval world of wood and iron and cordage.

While Beauregard busied himself training his guns on Sumter, Gosport was host to a dozen warships. Some were relics, albeit imposing ones: the quarter-century-old, 140-gun Pennsylvania was the largest sail-driven warship ever built in America. She was a ship of the line, since the seventeenth century the biggest and most heavily armed class of all fighting vessels, but having lived her expensive life between the War of 1812 and this brewing contest, she had never fired her broadside in battle.

The most advanced ship there was the steam frigate Merrimack, 4,236 tons, forty guns (the least of them many times more powerful than anything the Pennsylvania had ever mounted). All her guns, however, were ashore. The Merrimack was only five years old, but in this transitional epoch between wind power and steam power the newcomer could be unreliable. Every steam warship carried a full complement of masts and sails, which would be used on long voyages to conserve fuel, and in case just such a misfortune might visit their engines as had beset the Merrimack’s. Her still-young power plant had worked itself into uselessness; its components lay scattered about the yard in various stages of abandonment or repair.

Commodore Charles S. McCauley had charge of Gosport. He’d first gone to sea as a boy midshipman aboard the frigate Constellation, had fought on Lake Erie in the War of 1812, had commanded ships in the Atlantic and Pacific and in the Mediterranean, had been the guest of honor at a celebratory White House dinner in 1856. But he was sixty-eight now, and the years had made him cautious.

McCauley found no more help in his Washington orders than Anderson had. He too was told to defend his small territory while doing nothing to irritate his increasingly belligerent neighbors. A Pennsylvania man and a firm Unionist, McCauley—despite his years of hard service—was frightened of the twenty-two officers who reported to him. Almost all were Southerners; he both doubted their loyalty and feared driving them into the widening arms of the secession movement. Seven states were gone, but the Upper South, which included supremely important Virginia, might still be cajoled into loyalty. McCauley was all for cajoling. He was said to be a drinker; if so, his liquor irrigated no Dutch courage, which, in the end, is better than no courage at all.

Robert Danby, the yard’s chief engineer, was a Unionist and eager to get the Merrimack out of Gosport before the storm gathering at Sumter broke over Norfolk too. McCauley told Danby it would take at least a month to resurrect the ship’s steam plant. Danby found this preposterous and said so in a letter to Benjamin Franklin Isherwood, the Navy’s newly made engineer in chief.

Still in his thirties, the powerfully built Isherwood—his broad chest made him seem shorter than his five feet ten inches—had the reputation of being the “handsomest man in Washington,” which probably didn’t sweeten the opinion of those who also found him the most abrasive one. His supporters liked to speak of his frankness, but this quality manifested itself in a straightforward rudeness that needlessly brought him many enemies.

In part, his character had been formed by the difficult service to which he’d devoted most of his life. Being a naval engineer in the years before the Civil War meant that you were responsible for the fuming, dimly understood, deeply resented machinery that had begun to show up in warships only a generation earlier.

Seniority counted very much in the Navy, and its high officers saw themselves as the inheritors of a tradition that stretched back through all the centuries during which their predecessors had worked beneath what was invariably described as “towering clouds of sail.” Any of Sir Francis Drake’s captains set down on the quarterdeck of the Pennsylvania would instantly have understood her; and any of them seeing the greasy, clanking new netherworld inhabited by the marine steam engine would have been disgusted. So were most of the Navy men Isherwood met on his way up.

That climb had started surprisingly early, even in an era when children routinely went to work not so long after they’d learned to dress themselves. Isherwood was born in 1822, the son of a New York City doctor who died soon afterward. He was raised by a stern, strong-willed mother, who, when he was nine, enrolled him in the Albany Academy, a school that subjected its students to what would today be considered a rigorous college education and was apparently run like a penal colony.

One Albany graduate looking back upon his time there imagined adopting a coat of arms that bore “the crimson shield, signifying gore, upon which is emblazoned the figure of a boy rampant, with the hand of one unseen holding him in position, while above, as a crest, are two rattans [whips] crossed.” The harsh routine didn’t suit one boy a year ahead of Benjamin, Herman Melville, and eventually it drove away Benjamin himself. Although he had won several prizes at the school, he got expelled for “serious misconduct.” He was fourteen years old.

Albany Academy had educated its malefactor soundly enough to land him a job as a draftsman in the locomotive shops of the Utica and Schenectady Railroad, where he qualified as a “practical steam engineer” at the age of sixteen.

In 1842 Congress permitted the Navy to found an engineering corps, and the men who had been tending to the workings of the new steam warships were brought into the service. The infant bureau looked good to Isherwood; in the spring of 1844 he joined the US Navy as a first assistant engineer.

Two years later he was sent to Veracruz and the Mexican War aboard the USS Princeton, the most advanced ship in the American Navy, or any other. Rather than being driven by elaborate external side-wheels that offered a big, fragile target, she was the first warship to have a propeller—or screw, as naval parlance then and now puts it. The screw was turned by machinery that lay below the waterline, hard for enemy gunfire to reach. But this made the Princeton’s deep engine room an inhospitable place during summer blockade duty in the Gulf of Mexico. The temperature stood at 115 degrees for days on end, and the stench from the simmering filth in the bilge was enough to make seasoned sailors pass out during their watch. But his comfortless post got Isherwood familiar with the most sophisticated naval technology of the day.

He left Mexican waters to wade into the controversies that eddy about any new enterprise. Charles Haswell, the Navy’s first engineer in chief, who appointed Isherwood, had spent hectic, grinding months designing new ships for the rapidly growing steam navy, and the last of them, the San Jacinto, was a total failure. Asked to comment on its properties, Isherwood showed his combative temperament by writing that the engines were “a disgrace to the service and the corps” and “a standing monument of Mr. Haswell’s incompetence and folly.”

Haswell was so demoralized by this—and doubtless too by the demands of his unprecedented job—that he simply walked away from the San Jacinto and the Navy. Isherwood joined in the acrimonious faction battles that were shaping his corps, all the while designing engine after engine. Some of them failed, but one gained so wide a popularity that it became a standard in the fleet and would be known as the “Isherwood engine” during the war that lay just over the horizon.

When steam plants first appeared in naval vessels, nobody knew what status should be accorded the men who tended them. Deck officers believed engineers weren’t sailors at all, just hired mechanics, no more deserving of rank than a blacksmith. The engineers’ dubious position was reflected in an 1849 act of Congress establishing pay scales: a frigate captain got $5,000 a year, a chief engineer $1,500. Even so, the same act did attempt to raise the engineer’s standing, allowing him to dine with the other officers in the wardroom.

Isherwood became the most controversial engineer in the new fraternity with his insistence on a theory that defied the shaky orthodoxies of the day.

The debate boiled down to the important point of how much steam was needed to push a piston. Common practice held that the steam should be cut off shortly after entering a cylinder; its expansive qualities would do the necessary work. This argument sat well with naval frugality: the less steam needed, the less fuel burned.

Isherwood’s experience told him that no matter how energetically the steam might expand, the technology of the time could not seal a cylinder tightly enough to take advantage of it. He called for more steam to drive each stroke.

The engineers did not explore this difference in an atmosphere of comradely collaboration. Rather, as the great historian of technology Elting Morison put it, “The discourse was stabilized at a level of most sordid dialectic.” In the spirit of Isherwood’s calling his boss Haswell a disgrace to the service, his opponents decried him as an “ignorant child,” a “merchant of pure nonsense” trying to sell the “manifestly absurd.” When in 1859 Isherwood published his findings in a fat two-volume work called Engineering Precedents for Steam Machinery, one of his critics responded with astounded indignation that Isherwood had had the effrontery to offer “mere hypotheses of his own that he has printed in a book.”

Despite this base tactic, Isherwood had gained admirers in Washington. The engineer in chief who had replaced Haswell found the job no more congenial than had his predecessor and, like him, abruptly quit. In March the new President, Abraham Lincoln, wrote his new secretary of the navy, “Sir: I understand there is a vacancy in the office of Engineer-in-Chief of the Navy, which I shall have to fill by appointment. Will you please avail yourself of all the means in your power for determin[ing] and present me with the name of [the] best man for the service.” Gideon Welles chose Benjamin Isherwood.

WHEN THE YOUNG ENGINEER IN chief received Robert Danby’s contemptuous letter about the Merrimack’s inability to be ready for sea inside of a month, he had held his new post for less than a month and barely knew his boss. Still, he did not hesitate to run the letter right in to Welles, whom he urged to get the Merrimack out of Gosport. Welles agreed and sent orders to McCauley: “SIR: In view of the peculiar condition of the country, and of events that have already transpired, it becomes necessary that great vigilance should be exercised in guarding and protecting the public interests and property committed to your charge. It is therefore deemed important that the steamer Merrimac should be in condition to proceed to Philadelphia . . . in case of danger from unlawful attempts to take possession of her, that she may be placed beyond their reach.”

Welles should have stopped right there; instead, he added, “It is desirable there should be no steps taken to give needless alarm.” So when McCauley had the Merrimack towed to the ordnance wharf to take on her guns, and some Norfolk secessionists began complaining, he ordered the work stopped.

All this happened between April 10 and the twelfth. The bombardment of Sumter spurred Welles to send a stiff directive to McCauley: “Sir: The Department desires to have the Merrimack removed from the Norfolk to the Philadelphia Navy-yard with the utmost dispatch. The Engineer-in-Chief, Mr. B.F. Isherwood, has been ordered to report to you for the purpose of expediting the duty, and you will have his suggestions for that end carried promptly into effect.” Although once again this too was to be done “without creating a sensation but in a quiet manner.” Along with Isherwood, Welles sent Commander James Alden, who was quietly to take over the Merrimack once she was ready to sail. Isherwood could get the ship’s engines in order, but he couldn’t command her at sea.

Meanwhile, Welles cast about for a crew. The Merrimack’s full complement was six hundred seamen; Welles found he could lay his hands on sixty-three.

Isherwood and Alden arrived in Norfolk on the fourteenth, the day after Anderson surrendered Sumter. They at once discovered it was too late to carry out their mission unobtrusively. “To my surprise, all Norfolk seemed to be full of it,” Alden wrote. He and Isherwood made their way through knots of scowling citizens and across the river to Gosport, where McCauley greeted them with the news that the workers—there were fourteen hundred—had walked off their jobs.

Isherwood examined the Merrimack and was dismayed by what he saw: “The engines were in a wretched state. All the braces were out of the boilers, having been removed with a view to the substitution of other and larger ones, and the entire machinery was in a disabled condition.” He and Alden went together through the quiet yard, trying to find the far-flung pieces of the ship’s steam plant. Despite the dispiriting tour, Isherwood drastically revised McCauley’s estimate of how long it would take to make the Merrimack operational. He and Danby were able to recruit some mechanics and laborers with the promise of exorbitant wages, and they set to work. There followed a hell of effort that showed the chief engineer at his most galling: hour after hour of angry impatience. But he also possessed a raucous, optimistic energy that heartened his workers even as he berated them. He might be infuriating, but he worked every bit as hard as any other hand, and he obviously knew exactly what he was doing.

On April 17, Virginia took the step the entire North had feared. Once the state seceded, most of McCauley’s officers left the Union with her. Despite the upheaval, Isherwood and Danby, badly worn but greatly pleased, appeared in McCauley’s office at four that afternoon to report “the machinery ready for steam.” Isherwood had repaired the Merrimack in just three days. He told McCauley “that fifty-four firemen and coal heavers had been engaged and were ready to go on board, and asked him if I should fire up at once.” McCauley seemed “startled,” Isherwood said, and “replied not that afternoon, adding that if I had steam on the next morning it would be time enough. Accordingly, a regular engine-room watch was kept during the night and the fires were started at daybreak.”

Thursday the eighteenth dawned clear after a night of rain, and the Merrimack’s stack was feeding volumes of coal smoke into the cloudless spring sky. Isherwood had swapped the chains that had held the ship to the pier for ropes, so that the axmen he’d posted could free her in an instant.

“At about 9:00 AM I called on the Commodore and reported the engineer department ready for leaving; that Chief Engineer Danby, the assistant engineers, the firemen, and the coal heavers were all on board, with steam up and the engines working at the wharf. The only thing wanting was his order to cast loose and go. He then, to my great surprise and dissatisfaction, informed me that he had not yet decided to send the vessel, but would let me know further in the course of a few hours.”

While McCauley waffled, “I called his attention to the fact that the instructions of the Department were peremptory.” It was too late to fret about ruffled Virginian feelings, Isherwood insisted, and although the Merrimack’s sparse crew made Philadelphia an impossibility, she could still get across the harbor and shelter under the guns of Fortress Monroe, whose garrison’s loyalties were not in doubt.

McCauley remained adamant. Exhausted and seeing his considerable accomplishment in hurrying the Merrimack back into life being squandered, Isherwood wrote that the commodore “sat in his office immovable, not knowing what to do. He was weak, vacillating, hesitating, and overwhelmed by the responsibilities of his position. . . . He behaved as though he were stupefied.”

Alden, in the meantime, was offering $1,000 to any civilian pilot who would guide the Merrimack to safety across Hampton Roads: two years’ pay for two hours of work. But whether Alden found a pilot or not made no difference because when, at two o’clock, Isherwood returned to McCauley to again seek permission to cast off, “he informed me that he had decided to retain the vessel, and directed me to draw the fires.” That is, to shut the Merrimack down and leave her dead in the water.

Isherwood walked back to the ship and passed along McCauley’s orders to the equally frustrated Danby. “As I witnessed the gradual dying out of the Merrimack’s engines, I was greatly tempted to cut the ropes that held her, and bring her out on my own responsibility.” But this was the Navy, and orders were orders, and anyway engineers could not hold deck command. Isherwood wrote, “With great sorrow, I dismissed my men, waited until the engines made their last revolution [and] left the yard.”

He didn’t leave quite so easily as that suggests. The nascent secessionist authorities in Norfolk had learned of his attempts to snatch the Merrimack away from them, and now they wanted to seize him as a prisoner of war. A friend of Isherwood’s got wind of this and told the engineer to stay put in his room at the Atlantic Hotel while the friend booked a cabin on the Chesapeake Bay steamer under his own name. He returned to the hotel, smuggled Isherwood into his carriage, and got him aboard the steamer and locked in his cabin without anyone’s taking notice. The angry crowd that formed before the Atlantic Hotel found its quarry fled.

The Old Bay Line steamer deposited Isherwood in Washington on the morning of the nineteenth. He and Alden went immediately to Welles, who was furious. More at Alden, though, than at Isherwood: the one had, after all, got the Merrimack ready to sail; the other had refused to sail her. Both men, however, were justified in their final failure to take action. Events were moving swiftly, but not fast enough to show how things would stand with the yard in just a few hours, let alone what would become of the Merrimack. To have taken the ship out in defiance of McCauley’s orders would have been an act of mutiny unprecedented in American naval annals.

For his part, Welles at once relieved McCauley and tried to “rush reinforcements,” as the phrase goes, to Norfolk. There were few to rush, and however quickly those on hand might have got there, it was too late. On Saturday the sloop Pawnee, mounting eight nine-inch guns and carrying 349 men of the Third Massachusetts Infantry, entered Hampton Roads. Also aboard was Commodore Hiram Paulding, the most senior line officer in the Navy Department. He discovered that in a final exercise of his authority, McCauley had ordered all his ships scuttled to keep them from falling into the hands of a still largely illusory opposition. Their sea cocks had been opened to let water flow into the holds, and although not all were yet on the bottom, nothing could be done to save any of them. Paulding relieved McCauley of his command.

The new arrivals might have been able to hold the yard against the scattering of Virginia militia on its outskirts, but panic was spreading, fueled by all those silent forges and abandoned machine shops and listing ships, and the phantom secessionist host threatening to storm Gosport. Commodore Paulding ordered the yard destroyed.

A squalid carnival began, with barrels of turpentine sloshed along the decks of already foundering ships and two thousand pounds of powder laid to blow up the superb dry dock. Hundreds of cannon had to be attended to: men wielding eighteen-pound hammers tried to strike off their trunnions, the twin fat iron pegs that sprouted a third of the way down their barrels and rested on the carriages that supported the guns. With these gone, the cannon would be useless forever. But not surprisingly the trunnions were strong. Paulding reported to Welles, “100 men worked an hour with sledge hammers, and such was the tenacity of the iron that they did not succeed in breaking a single trunnion.” In the end the would-be destroyers had to settle for driving spikes into the guns’ touchholes (removable, with some effort) and then rolling them into the water (retrievable with almost no effort in a dockyard).

Sailors put matches to long powder trains and got clear. The Merrimack burned, the fire running along her masts and shrouds so that for a little while she was an incandescent diagram of the rigging plan of a mid-nineteenth-century man-of-war, and, although none of the men who had put her to the torch could know it then, a fiery epitaph for half a millennium of naval warfare. But—and this would have the largest ramifications—the flames did not reach her engines.

Poor McCauley offered one last difficulty. Having sunk his actual ships, he now declared his intention to go down with a metaphorical one and refused to leave his office, waiting there for the fire to take him. Harried officers from the Pawnee had to go and fetch him from his would-be pyre.

The ton of gunpowder meant to destroy the dry dock never exploded. Some Southern patriots claimed credit for dousing the fuse, but nobody knows what happened, save that the crucial facility went intact to its new owners.

The cannon, hundreds and hundreds of them, were rescued to see service throughout the Confederacy. Decades later, the Union admiral David Dixon Porter was still indignant about those guns: “A number of them were quickly mounted at Sewell’s Point to keep our ships from approaching Norfolk; others were sent to Hatteras Inlet, Oracoke, Roanoke Island, and other points in the Sounds of North Carolina. Fifty-three of them were mounted at Port Royal, others at Fernandina and at the defences of New Orleans. They were met with at Fort Henry, Fort Donelson, Island No. 10, Memphis, Vicksburg, Grand Gulf, and Port Hudson. We found them up the Red River as far as the gunboats penetrated, and took possession of some of them on the [railroad flat] cars at Duvall’s Bluff, on White River, bound for Little Rock. They gave us a three hours’ hard fight at Arkansas Post. . . .” But, Porter concluded, “In the end they all returned to their rightful owners.”

The real Union catastrophe at Gosport came from the least expected quarter. Isherwood, turning over and over in his mind his mutinous impulse to seize the Merrimack himself, wrote that had he done so, “the disasters which followed her detention, and which are my justification for the desire to take the matter into my own hands, would not have happened.”



CHAPTER 4

The First Necessity



[image: Images]


Stephen Mallory, the effective and imaginative secretary of the Confederate Navy.



In the euphoria of secession, anything seemed possible to the Confederate States of America. The newborn nation could count on the inherent valor of its sons, untainted by the mercantile grubbing of the mongrel drones in the industrial North; and it had cotton. In those early days, the talk was all of cotton. King Cotton, if withheld, would cripple the North and beggar the mills of Great Britain. Cotton was more than just a valuable commodity: it was the mainspring that drove Western civilization. Here is Senator James H. Hammond of South Carolina speaking two years before Sumter: “Would any nation make war on cotton? Without firing a gun, without drawing a sword, should they make war on us, we could bring the whole world to our feet. . . . What would happen if no cotton were furnished for three years? . . . England would topple headlong, and carry the whole civilized world with her, save the South. No; you dare not make war on cotton.”

And couldn’t it be used even more effectively? Alexander Stephens, the Confederacy’s freshly minted vice president, thought so. He proposed taking 4 million bales from the 1860 and 1861 crops while at the same time buying fifty ironclad steamships. The cotton, loaded aboard the ironclads, could run past whatever interference the North might devise and be warehoused in Europe. Once the price rose to fifty cents a pound, the stock would be sold, at a stroke feeding $800 million into the Confederate treasury.

Surely word of the vice president’s plan reached Stephen Russell Mallory, and it must have given him a brief, bleak gleam of amusement. Fifty ironclads! The secretary of the Confederate Navy was doing his best, his vigorous and highly competent best, to scratch up just one.

Mallory knew a lot about ships and the sea. Born in 1813, he had grown up in Key West, Florida, a town on a low, three-mile-long island that drew its sustenance from the sea. But not by fishing. The string of islands that makes up the Florida Keys curls out to the west for 140 miles, paralleled to the seaward by a coral reef whose peaks and hollows brew vicious currents that have been the despair of mariners since the earliest days of colonization. Key West, in contrast, fronts a deep, sheltered harbor, and from there men set out to save the lives of shipwrecked sailors and salvage the vessels on which they had come to grief. This fortuitous trade had, by the 1830s, made Key West the richest town in Florida.

Admiralty law held that the first person aboard a wrecked and abandoned ship was, in effect, her owner until the vessel could be delivered over to the courts. The salvage rules that governed the ship from its striking the reef to the apportionment of its cargo and remains were many and complex. Mallory early started to master them. In 1828 Congress gave a court at Key West jurisdiction over shipwrecks throughout all south Florida; three years later, Mallory, still in his teens, was appointed inspector of customs, a post that brought him into close contact with the merchant marine.

A quick student, he made his way with increasing confidence through the maze of maritime law. He had a tenacious fixity of purpose that revealed itself in his courtship of Angela Moreno, a Spanish girl he first saw when she was fifteen and he a couple of years older.

She got under his skin and stayed there. After four years of trying, Mallory managed to get her alone and, he said, “began very nervously and formally the story of my love.” In response she glared at him and picked up a candlestick; she “looked as if about to hurl the candlestick at my head.” But he held his ground, stammering out that he wanted to marry her, and that he was willing to wait two years before his next proposal. “You need never renew your offer,” she said, “for I will never listen to it again.”

Two years later he wrote saying the offer stood, and that if she turned him down, he would join an expedition against the Seminoles. She told him to go fight the Indians.

So Mallory spent the winter of 1837 splashing around in the Everglades. The commander of the expedition, Lieutenant Lewis Powell, met the Seminoles and was routed by them. Mallory never came under fire, but “I had a very pleasant & somewhat independent position assigned to me, with the command of a fine body of seamen & my own superb long, center board, schooner rigged, whale boat. . . . I enjoyed capital health, good spirits, and reaped much useful experience, self reliance & benefit generally from my service.”

His eight-year campaign ended far better than had Lieutenant Powell’s six-month one. Back in Pensacola in April 1838, Mallory again found his now twenty-three-year-old quarry. “What in the world has brought you here?” Angela Moreno asked, surely rhetorically.

“You have. I came to see you alone—Refuse me & I go back at once; but not to give you up, for I am determined to marry you.”

And Angela said, “I had determined to accept your offer if you ever renewed it.”

They were married in Pensacola that July.

A FEW YEARS EARLIER MALLORY had entered political life as the Key West marshal. His work began at nine thirty in the evening, when the town bell let the citizenry know it was time “for the cessation of business and pleasures.” Thereafter Mallory was to put the arm on “any Negroes, bond or free, appearing on the street without authority,” and to deal with “merrymaking by fiddle, drum, or any other kind of noise.”

From this modest beginning, Mallory grew in stature as a public figure, and in time the young lawyer began to be seen as congressional material. In 1851 he went to Washington as a senator, and two years later became chairman of the Senate Naval Affairs Committee. As the nation moved toward war, Mallory, though not eager for secession, vigorously defended the institution of slavery. When the decades of compromises that had prevented a sectional rift finally failed with Lincoln’s election, Mallory made his last speech to the US Senate, a mixture of not entirely persuasive remorse and wholly convincing defiance: “I cannot feel . . . but profound regret that existing causes imperatively impel us to this separation. . . . Throughout her long and patient endurance of insult and wrong, the South has clung to the Union with unfaltering fidelity . . .” Now, though, “be our difficulties what they may, we stand forth a united people to grapple with and to conquer them. Our willingness to shed our blood in this cause is the highest proof we can offer of the sincerity of our connections.”

The Confederate Congress, meeting in Montgomery, Alabama, to invent a nation, chose Jefferson Davis as its first president on February 9, 1861. Two weeks later it established the Confederate Navy, and Davis, who had worked amicably with Mallory for years in the Senate, asked him to be its secretary. Mallory was something of an anomaly in Davis’s cabinet, a Roman Catholic in a conclave of Protestants—with the quite extraordinary exception of Judah P. Benjamin, the Confederate secretary of war, then of state, who was Jewish. The two men were close friends.

Some thought Mallory too soft for his post. One reporter wrote that he was a “stumpy, ‘roly-poly’ little fellow . . . for all the world like one of the squat ‘gentleman farmers’ you find in the south of England.” He had a plump, boyish countenance that suggested self-indulgence. Later, a Confederate War Department secretary said he had seen a note from Mallory inviting a colleague “to his house at 5 PM to partake of ‘pea soup.’ . . . His ‘pea soup’ will be oysters and champagne, and every other delicacy relished by epicures. Mr. Mallory’s red face, and his plethoric body, indicate the highest living.” Worse, many thought him timorous and questioned his loyalty. But his entire career as Navy secretary ratifies his energy, determination, and wholehearted fidelity to the Confederacy. He was one of only two members of Jefferson Davis’s cabinet to hold their posts throughout the war.

With the consolidation of the disaffected states, the government moved to Richmond, and Mallory set up his offices there. A hastily compiled guide suggests the improvisatory nature of his new quarters. The seat of power was in the Mechanics Institute—on Ninth Street, between Main and Franklin—with the Navy Department to be found on the “2nd story, right hand side.”

Behind the door that bore his name, Mallory took up the strands of his responsibilities while an unseasonably warm spring added to his discomforts (although one Confederate Army officer saw a tactical advantage in it, writing his wife, “We are having terribly hot weather here, and it does us good to think how it must toast the Yankees”).

In his steaming rooms, Mallory sorted through the tools he had to work with. Burdened with too many shortages, he found himself with one troublesome surplus. Of 677 Southern-born US Navy officers, 321 had resigned their commissions to serve the Confederacy. Mallory had six ships to put them on. Of course shore batteries would need manning in the South’s many harbors, and he would attend to that. But he saw his nation’s role in the sea campaigns to come as far more than a defensive one. He knew the North would try to establish a blockade along the Southern coastline, and he wanted something to counter it.

Some of his actions in the Senate hinted that Mallory might take a conservative, even reactionary approach to his duties. He had campaigned vigorously if unsuccessfully for the reinstatement of flogging in the US Navy, even suggested that the service couldn’t exist without it. But now, facing a naval war with a nonexistent fleet, he looked forward.

Just a week after Gosport Navy Yard burned, Mallory wrote the Confederate House Committee on Naval Affairs, “I regard the possession of an iron-armored ship as a matter of the first necessity. . . . Inequality of numbers may be compensated by invulnerability. Not only does economy, but naval success, dictate the wisdom and expediency of fighting with iron against wood, without regard to first cost.” He would write his wife, “Knowing that the enemy could build one hundred ships to one of our own, my policy has been to make such ships so strong and invulnerable as would compensate for the inequality in numbers.”

A Southern joke, possibly from the time, has a reporter questioning an official of the fledgling service.

Q: “Sir, is your navy iron-plated?”

A: “Sir, our navy is barely even contem-plated.”

Mallory knew it would take decades to build a wooden fleet even remotely commensurate with what the Federals already had in hand. A new kind of warship, an iron warship, could redress the balance.

The thought had not originated with Mallory. Athenaeus, a second-century Greek grammarian and writer, says that in the third century BC, Hieron, king of Syracuse, built a ship whose hull was sheathed with lead plates fastened with copper bolts. If Athenaeus is to be believed, it was quite a vessel, a sort of proto–cruise ship with such luxuries as a marble bathroom, four-berth cabins, a library, and an aquarium. It also had a nice celebrity connection, in that the windlass used to launch it was designed by Archimedes.

In 1592 a Korean fleet under Admiral Yi Sun-sin used hundred-foot-long vessels protected with half-inch iron plating—called kobukson, “turtle ships”—to repel a Japanese invasion.

The idea wasn’t taken up in the West for another 250 years until, during the Crimean War in 1855 at the Battle of Kinburn, the French reduced Russian forts on the Black Sea with three iron-plated floating batteries.

Mallory may not have known about the kobukson, but he’d received full reports on the Kinburn action from American observers.

Earlier and closer to home, two inventive New Jersey brothers named Robert and Augustus Stevens had talked Congress out of a quarter million dollars to build what was probably the first ironclad warship ordered by any navy. Work on the “Stevens Battery” went forward slowly, but not cheaply, and a decade into its halting growth, in 1852, the Senate faced the question of whether to provide the money necessary to finish the job.

With little to show after ten years of riveting, the Stevens brothers were up against a largely hostile Senate. Mallory argued to save the battery. He won more funding, although not enough to finish the ship (it would be sold for scrap thirty years later), but he never lost faith in the project.

Now he was in a position to act on his conviction. Mallory figured that he didn’t need a lot of ironclads, but he had to have some. If they were to carry the war to the enemy, they—unlike the Charleston floating battery—must be self-propelled.

Mallory first looked overseas to Europe, where the two great naval powers of the day were hard at work building large iron warships. France already had the thirty-six-gun Gloire, and England had responded with the just-launched forty-gun HMS Warrior. The former had iron plates sheathing a wooden hull; the latter was all iron. (Miraculously, it still survives, magnificently preserved, a mid-Victorian marvel that would be well worth a visit to Portsmouth even if Lord Nelson’s flagship, Victory, were not there.) The idea of ironclads had taken such firm hold across the Atlantic that when Mallory was planning his invincible weapon, a hundred armored ships were either building or afloat in Europe. The British, who had already heard more than they wanted to about “Yankee ingenuity,” dispensed a good deal of Olympian amusement about how far the Yankees were behind in this seagoing revolution.

Still, not one of these new creations had come close to meeting another in the ultimate test of combat.

Mallory’s navy in the war’s first year received a precise $14,605,777.86 out of government expenditures of $347 million; only the Confederate “Executive Mansion” was more meagerly funded. Still, Mallory hoped to buy his iron warship ready-made, and he sent envoys to Britain and France to try. One of them, James Bulloch, succeeded in commissioning raiders that played havoc with Union merchant shipping; the other, James North, contented himself with stealing a sum worth £30,000 from the Confederate treasury. Neither man was able to persuade any government to part with an ironclad.

Mallory would have to build his own. The same determination that had won Angela Moreno served him well here. Out on the western rivers, they were already hanging metal siding on steamboats, but Mallory had something more ambitious in mind than nailing stove iron to matchwood upperworks. He demanded a warship so ambitious that it is not too fanciful to view its building as the Confederacy’s Manhattan Project.

It began with a message, dated May 30, slapped out over the telegraph wires from Gosport, that could not have made too great an impression on Mallory, besieged as he was by fragments of information pelting in from everywhere south of Washington. But the terse announcement was one of the most consequential communications in all naval history: “We have the Merrimack up and are just pulling her into dry dock.”



CHAPTER 5

Old Father Neptune
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An engraving of Gideon Welles as secretary of the Navy.



Save for a few haunting portraits of adolescent recruits, all the subjects of photographs from the Civil War era look at least a decade older than they are. It is surprising to remember that at the time of his inauguration, the immemorial face of Abraham Lincoln belonged to someone who had just turned fifty-two. Even so, Gideon Welles, who was in his late fifties when he joined Lincoln’s cabinet, looks as old as Neptune. And that is the fond, mildly teasing nickname Lincoln gave his Navy secretary: Old Father Neptune.

Welles, like every politician, had enemies, and many of them made fun of his appearance. That wasn’t hard to do. Years earlier, when his hair was still brown, he had ordered a curious wig, a high, wedge-shaped burst of fibers that had of course failed to turn white when his copious beard did. If this toupee was a reflection of the man’s vanity, he was cavalier about it. He would put on the hairpiece in the morning, then pay it no further attention. When he became agitated, it would twitch about on his large head like a cat trying to get comfortable.

Massachusetts governor John Andrew once came to call on Welles asking, “Where can I find that old Mormon deacon, the secretary of the navy?”

The supple New York politico Thurlow Weed, who had first supported Welles’s appointment and then, when his keen nose sniffed a change in the wind, opposed it, told Lincoln that if the President would “stop long enough in New York, Philadelphia or Baltimore to select an attractive figurehead, to be adorned with an elaborate wig and luxuriant whiskers, and transfer it from the prow of a ship to the entrance of the Navy Department, it would, in my opinion, be quite as serviceable as his Secretary, and less expensive.”
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